IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

SCOTT VINH DUONG, M.D., ANNIE LYNN PENACO DUONG, M.D., DUONG ANESTHESIA, PLLC and DOE DEFENDANTS I-X, Electronically Filed Mar 11 2020 11:52 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellants,

VS.

FIELDEN HANSON ISAACS MIYADA ROBISON YEH, LTD.,

Respondent.

No.: 79460

Eight Judicial District Court Case No. A-19-789110-B

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

MARTIN A LITTLE, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 9550 RYAN T. O'MALLEY, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 12461

HOWARD & HOWARD ATTORNEYS PLLC

3800 Howard Hughes Pkwy., Ste. 1000 Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANTS

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

NRAP 3A(b)(3) grants jurisdiction over "an order granting or refusing to grant an injunction." This appeal is from the district court's order granting a preliminary injunction in part. Therefore, the Court has jurisdiction over this appeal.

ROUTING STATEMENT

Pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(14) this case is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals; however, Appellant requests that the Nevada Supreme Court retain this matter pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(12). This case presents the issue of whether NRS 613.195(5) may be applied retroactively to non-competition agreements executed before the statute's enactment. This issue is of substantial importance to employers and employees alike, and it is likely to recur in subsequent litigation.

Moreover, this case presents fundamental questions regarding retroactive application of statutes and the "procedural vs. substantive statute" distinction which drives that inquiry. The Court must determine whether a statute is substantive when it invokes the judicial process to modify the substantive terms of a private contract. There is, to counsel's knowledge, no Nevada law directly addressing this point.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Is a non-competition agreement overbroad when it lacks any geographic limitation that purportedly bars a former physician employee from working at any "facility" with which his former employer has a relationship, and it requires the physician to indefinitely terminate his privileges at those same facilities upon the termination of his employment?
- 2. Can NRS 613.195(5) retroactively modify the terms of a non-competition agreement that was executed before the statute's enactment?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from a non-competition agreement ("NCA") which lacks any geographic limitation and is not reasonably related to any legitimate business purpose on behalf of Appellants' former employer. Defendant/Appellants Scott and Annie Duong (the "Duongs") had relocated from Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania to Las Vegas, Nevada to accept a position with a local anesthesiology practice called Premier Anesthesiology Consultants ("PAC"). Approximately four months later, PAC was acquired by a national anesthesiology conglomerate called U.S. Anesthesia Partners ("USAP"), of which Plaintiff/Respondent Fielden Hanson Isaacs Miyada Robison Yeh, Ltd. ("Fielden Hanson") is a subsidiary. After the merger, Fielden Hanson compelled the Duongs to execute an employment agreement containing the NCA at issue in order to keep their jobs.

By its plain language, Fielden Hanson's NCA states that if the Duongs had ever covered a surgical case at a hospital or surgical center ("Facility") during their time at USAP, they are barred from accepting *any* surgical cases for *any* surgeon at that *entire facility* for a two-year period, even for surgeons that Fielden Hanson has never worked with, and even if Fielden Hanson later ceases providing any services at that facility. The non-compete's focus on entire *facilities* rather than individual *physicians* is nonsensical because, generally speaking, physicians (and not Facilities) hire anesthesiologists. Moreover, the agreement provides requires the

Duongs to terminate their privileges at every Facility at with which USAP has any sort of business relationship, whether or not the Duongs had ever provided services at those facilities during their employment. The district court therefore correctly held that the NCA is overbroad and invalid.

Although the district court correctly held that the noncompetition agreement was overbroad as drafted, it erred in retroactively applying NRS 613.195(5) to modify an NCA which predated the statute's enactment. Retroactive application of NRS 613.195(5) substantively modifies the terms of the NCA at issue and thereby violates the Duongs' due process rights. Both Fielden Hansen and the Duongs were presumed to know the state of the law when they executed the NCA at issue in this case. At the time of execution, Nevada's law of public policy required NCAs to be wholly reasonable, and held that reformation (or "blue penciling") was not available to rescue NCAs that were unreasonable. Parties may not contract around Nevada's law of public policy, and those public policy requirements are implicitly included in the terms any contract. Thus, at the time of execution, the NCA implicitly stated that it would be enforced only if it was wholly reasonable, and it implicitly precluded judicial reformation. Applying NRS 613.195(5) retroactively upends the parties' expectations at the time of execution by effectively inserting severability and bluelining clauses into the contract, which the parties (by operation of law¹) knew were impermissible when they agreed to the terms at issue.

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

The Duongs Complete Their Medical Training and Begin Their Careers with Premier Anesthesiology Consultants

The Duongs attended medical school at State University of New York at Downstate. (1 App. 195.) They both performed residencies at Montefiore Medical Center, as well as fellowships at the University of Pittsburgh Medical Center. (*Id.*) Scott's fellowship training was in regional anesthesiology, and Annie's was in pediatric anesthesiology at the Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh at UPMC. (*Id.*)

¹ Based upon discovery following the events at issue in this interlocutory appeal, the Duongs anticipate that Fielden Hanson will allege that the Duongs were subjectively unaware of relevant Nevada Supreme Court precedent holding that blue-lining was not permitted at the time that they executed the agreements containing the NCAs. This is irrelevant; everyone is presumed to know the state of the law at the time that they perform an action with potential legal consequence, and this legal fiction is necessary to maintain the rule of law. See, e.g., Smith v. State, 38 Nev. 477, 151 P. 512, 513 (1915) (holding that there is a non-rebuttable presumption that everyone who enters into a contract does so knowing the state of the law); cf. Whiterock v. State, 112 Nev. 775, 782, 918 P.2d 1309, 1314 (1996) (holding that a party's ignorance of the law is irrelevant to application of those laws in a criminal prosecution); see also Roldan v. Callahan & Blaine, 161 Cal. Rptr. 3d 493, 498 (Cal. App. 2013) ("[W]e are required to presume that parties to a contract both know and have in mind all applicable laws in existence when an agreement is made . . . necessarily enter into the contract and form a part of it without any stipulation to that effect as if they were expressly referred to and incorporated.") (internal quotations omitted).

In August of 2016, and immediately following their fellowships, Scott and Annie relocated from Pittsburgh to Las Vegas to join Premier Anesthesia Consultants ("PAC"), which was a subsidiary of a group called Anesthesiology Consultants, Inc. ("ACI"). (1 App. 195.) At the time the Duongs joined PAC, the group consisted of approximately 16 anesthesiologists. (*Id.*) The Duongs' recruitment process with PAC began in or around January of 2016, and at no point during that process were they ever informed that PAC was considering a buy-out from Fielden Hanson or any other group. (1 App. 181.)

USAP Comes to Town: The Fielden Hanson Merger

In or around December of 2016, USAP came to Las Vegas in a merger deal which involved PAC/ACI and another group called Summit Anesthesia Consultants. (1 App. 196.) Fielden Hanson is a subsidiary of USAP. (1 App. 182).² In connection with this acquisition, USAP/Fielden Hanson required the Duongs to execute Physician-Track Employment Agreements ("Agreement[³]") if they wished to continue their employment. (*Id.*)

teams-us-anesthesia-partners (last visited February 25, 2019).

² See also Anesthesiology Consultants Inc. Teams with U.S. Anesthesia Partners, https://www.usap.com/news-and-events/news/anesthesiology-consultants-inc-

³ Both Agreements are identical USAP forms except for the names of the counterparty involved, and the term "Agreement" is therefore used in the singular for the remainder of this Opposition to refer to the substance of both Scott and Annie's Agreements.

Thus, within a few months of beginning work in Las Vegas, the Duongs found themselves facing an uncomfortable decision: They could either accept the new terms set forth by USAP/Fielden Hanson or immediately leave the practice which they had just moved across the country to join. (1 App. X, Y.) They ultimately chose to execute the Agreement. (*See id.*)

USAP's New Terms: The Post-Merger Non-Competition Language

USAP's Agreement (with exhibits) spans about 23 single-spaced pages. (1 App. 182.) Many of the Agreement's provisions (including the non-competition provisions at issue in this case) cast their scope in terms of "Facilities," which are broadly defined as:

All facilities with which the Practice has a contract to supply licensed physicians, CRNAs, AAs and other authorized health care providers who provide Anesthesiology and Pain Management Services at any time during the Term or during the preceding twelve (12) months, facilities at which any such providers have provided Anesthesiology and Pain Management Services at any time during the Term or during the preceding twelve (12) months, and facilities with which the Practice has had active negotiations to supply any such providers who provide Anesthesiology and Pain Management Services during the Term or during the preceding twelve (12) months shall be collectively referred to as the "Facilities[.]"

(1 App. 182–83.) The definition of capital-'F' "Facilities" under the Agreement therefore includes the following classes of healthcare facilities:

(1) facilities at which USAP/Fielden Hanson has a contract to supply healthcare providers;

- (2) facilities at which USAP/Fielden Hanson *had* a contract to supply healthcare providers at any time during the 12 months preceding the Agreement, even if it does no longer, and even if it did not have such a contract at any time during the term of the Agreement;
- (3) facilities at which USAP/Fielden Hanson had provided anesthesiology or pain management services at any time during the term of the Agreement;
- (4) facilities at which USAP/Fielden Hanson had provided anesthesiology or pain management services during the twelve months preceding the Agreement, even if it never did during the term of the Agreement;
- (5) any facilities with which USAP/Fielden Hanson had "active negotiations[4] to supply any [healthcare] providers" during the Term of the Agreement, even if those negotiations never ripened into a contract; and
- (6) any facilities with which USAP/Fielden Hanson had "active negotiations" during the twelve months preceding the Agreement, even if those

6

⁴ The Agreement does not define "active negotiations," which leaves ambiguous how "active" negotiations must be before they trigger any obligation under the Agreement. For example, if a healthcare facility contacts USAP/Fielden Hanson expressing potential interest in forming a relationship and entertains a few meetings before concluding that it is not interested, it is entirely unclear under the Agreement whether these "negotiations" were sufficiently "active" to trigger the Agreement's various obligations.

negotiations never ripened into a contract, and even if those negotiations had unsuccessfully concluded prior to the term of the Agreement.

(1 App. 183–84.) Subject to this broad definition of "Facilities," the Agreement contains the following Non-Competition Clause:

In consideration of the promises contained herein, including without limitation those related to Confidential Information, except as may be otherwise provided in this Agreement, during the Term of this Agreement and for a period of two (2) years following termination of this Agreement, Physician covenants and agrees that Physician shall not, without the prior consent of the Practice (which consent may be withheld in the Practice's discretion), directly or indirectly, either individually or as a partner, joint venturer, employee, agent, representative, officer, director, member or member of any person or entity, (i) provide Anesthesiology and Pain Management Services at any of the Facilities at which Physician has provided any Anesthesiology and Pain Management Services (1) in the case of each day during the Term, within the twenty-four month period prior to such day and (2) in the case of the period following the termination of this Agreement, within the twenty-four month period prior to the date of such termination; (ii) call on, solicit or attempt to solicit any Facility serviced by the Practice within the twenty-four month period prior to the date hereof for the purpose of persuading or attempting to persuade any such Facility to cease doing business with, or materially reduce the volume of, or adversely alter the terms with respect to, the business such Facility does with the Practice or any affiliate thereof or in any way interfere with the relationship between any such Facility and the Practice or any affiliate thereof; or (iii) provide management, administrative or consulting services at any of the Facilities at which Physician has provided any management, administrative or consulting services or any Anesthesiology and Pain Management Services (1) in the case of each day during the Term, within the twenty-four month period prior to such day and (2) in the case of the period following the termination of this Agreement, within the twenty-four month period prior to the date of such termination.

(1 App. 184, emphases added.) The Agreement also provides that, upon termination, the Duongs must terminate their privileges at any "Facility" as defined by the Agreement, without regard to whether they had ever provided services at that Facility:⁵

Effect of Expiration or Termination. Upon the expiration or 6.3 earlier termination of this Agreement, neither party shall have any further obligation hereunder except for (a) obligations accruing prior to the date of expiration or termination and (b) obligations, promises, or covenants contained herein which are expressly made to extend beyond Immediately upon the effective date of termination, Physician shall (i) surrender all keys, identification badges, telephones, pagers, and computers, as well as any and all other property of the Practice in Physician's possession, and (ii) withdraw from the medical staff of every Facility in which Physician holds medical staff privileges. If required by the Practice, Physician shall deliver to each Facility that is served by the Practice Physician's written consent to be personally bound by this Section 6.3. Physician further agrees that failure to comply with this provision shall constitute a material breach of this Agreement upon which Physician's rights to any further benefits under this Agreement shall terminate immediately and automatically.

(1 App. 136, emphases added.) The Agreement also includes a provision requiring a physician to "waive[] due process, notice, hearing, and review in the event his or her membership or privileges at any Facility are terminated under the circumstances described in Section 6.3(ii) [*i.e.* the language quoted above]," which apparently contemplates a waiver of rights if someone *other than* the Duongs seeks to have their

_

⁵ Section 6.3 does not include the "twenty-four month period" limitation contained in the non-competition clause, and the Agreement does not articulate when, if ever, the Duongs may re-establish their privileges at the Facilities.

privileges terminated at any Facility following their departure. (1 App. 56, 81.) The Agreement's non-solicitation provision similarly applies to "any of the Facilities," without regard to whether the Duongs had ever actually practiced or provided services at any given facility. (*Id.*)

The Duongs' Post-Merger Working Conditions Deteriorate

After the merger, various changes were implemented that made the Duongs uncomfortable. (1 App. 185.) For example, they were transitioned from 1099 compensation (for contractors) to a W2 salary (for employees). (*Id.*) A compensation plan was implemented which was less transparent than that of PAC/ACI. (*Id.*) USAP took 20% of the Duongs' salaries on an indefinite basis. (*Id.*) In exchange for this 20% "tax," USAP promised improvement in efficiency/work flow and better negotiations/contracts with hospitals, which would ostensibly result in higher income for the members of the practice net of the tax (a notion which USAP refers to as "income repair"). (*See id.*) USAP/Fielden Hanson did not deliver on any of these promises. (*Id.*)

The quality of the practice suffered as well. (1 App. 185.) The sudden expansion of the group from 16 providers to more than 100 made scheduling disorganized and frustrating for surgeons attempting to schedule procedures. (*Id.*) Some surgeons became dissatisfied with the group and began to take their business elsewhere. (*Id.*) Many providers became unhappy with the new system, and

morale suffered. (*See id.*) Providers working with the group (including the Duongs) began to feel like interchangeable cogs rather than skilled physicians. (*See id.*)

In short, the work experience that USAP/Fielden Hanson provided was not what the Duongs had signed up for when they left Pittsburgh and relocated to Las Vegas to work with PAC, and they decided to part ways with the practice. (*Id.*)

The Duongs Separate from USAP/Fielden Hanson

In or around August of 2018, the Duongs provided 90 days' notice of their intent to terminate their employment with Fielden Hanson, as provided in Section 6.2.9 of the Agreement. (*See* 1 App. 186; 1 App. 204; 1 App. 209). In doing so, they declined a partnership that they were offered, as well as the bonus associated with it. (See 2 App. 186.) The Duongs had no intention of competing with USAP following their departure. (2 App. 187.) However, they also did not conceal their intention to continue working as anesthesiologists in Las Vegas following their departure from Fielden Hanson. (*Id.*)

This Litigation and the Proceedings Below

This litigation was commenced in February of 2019 (1 App. 1–14), and Fielden Hanson sought a preliminary injunction shortly thereafter (1 App. 17–159). On April 9, 2019, the district court issued an order granting Fielden Hanson's motion in part. The district court held that the contract was unenforceable as written, but

invoked NRS 613.195(5) to modify its terms (3 App. 430–441). However, NRS 613.195(5) was nevertheless retroactively to modify the terms of the parties' agreement, notwithstanding that it had been passed after that agreement had been executed. (*Id.*)

The Duongs moved for reconsideration on April 23, 2019, arguing that the district court could not retroactively apply NRS 613.195(5) to alter the substantive terms of a contract executed before the statute's enactment. (3 App. 446–526.) Fielden Hanson opposed the motion on moved to alter or amend the judgment on May 8, 2019. (4 App. 446–526.) The Duongs replied in support of their motion on May 21, 2019. (4 App. 693–704.) On June 7, 2019, the district court denied Plaintiff's motion for reconsideration. (4 App. 712–717.)

This appeal followed on August 16, 2019.⁶ (1 App. 746–747.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Non-competition agreements are disfavored restraints of trade, and they require definite and narrowly-tailored terms in order to be enforceable. Sufficiently definite non-competition agreements must contain express and reasonable limitations as to time and geographic scope. These criteria (and their

-

⁶ The Duongs filed an Amended Notice of Appeal on the same day to rectify clerical errors in the initial Notice of Appeal.

reasonableness) are clear and easily ascertainable; the extent of the restriction may be reckoned by simple reference to a map and a calendar.

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