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

ARGUMENT 

A.  The NCAs Are Unreasonably Broad and Not Limited to a 

Reasonable Geographic Location. 

  

In line with its misconstrued definition of “Facilities” in the NCAs, 

Respondent claims the NCAs contain an easily ascertainable geographic location. 

(Answering Br. at 9-10.)  This may be the case if the NCAs explicitly limited 

Appellants from performing services solely at the facilities at which they worked 

during their time with USAP, however, as Appellants have previously stated, that is 

not the case.  The NCA limits Appellants from performing services at any and all of 

the following: 
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(1) Facilities at which USAP/Fielden Hanson has a contract to 

supply healthcare providers during the term of the Agreement; 

(2) Facilities at which USAP/Fielden Hanson had a contract to 

supply healthcare providers at any time during the 12 months 

preceding the Agreement, even if it does no longer, and even if 

it did not have such a contract at any time during the term of the 

Agreement;   

(3) Facilities at which USAP/Fielden Hanson had provided 

anesthesiology or pain management services at any time during 

the term of the Agreement;   

(4) Facilities at which USAP/Fielden Hanson had provided 

anesthesiology or pain management services during the twelve 

months preceding the Agreement, even if it never did during the 

term of the Agreement;   

(5) Facilities with which USAP/Fielden Hanson had “active 

negotiations to supply any [healthcare] providers” during the 

term of the Agreement, even if those negotiations never ripened 

into a contract; and   

(6) Facilities with which USAP/Fielden Hanson had “active 

negotiations” during the twelve months preceding the 
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Agreement, even if those negotiations had unsuccessfully 

concluded prior to the term of the Agreement. 

(2 App. 183–84.)   

Such a list can hardly be considered narrowly tailored or an easily 

ascertainable geographic restriction because it fails to inform Appellants of the 

entirety of USAP’s relationships with hospitals and other “facilities” in Nevada and 

elsewhere.  It is entirely possible that USAP has relationships with every hospital, 

thereby restricting Appellants from practicing anesthesiology at any hospital in 

Nevada and possibly elsewhere.  Such a possibility is simply overbroad, unfair, and 

not reasonably necessary to protect Respondent’s interests.  See Golden Rd. Motor 

Inn, Inc. v. Islam, 132 Nev. 476, 483, 376 P.3d 151, 156 (2016) (holding that a non-

compete that extends beyond what is necessary to protect the employer’s interest 

renders the provision wholly unenforceable). 

Respondent further asserts that this case is comparable to Accelerated Care 

Plus Corp. v. Diversicare Mgmt. Servs. Co., 2011 WL 3678798, at *3 (D. Nev. Aug. 

22, 2011) and to Hansen v. Edwards, 83 Nev. 189, 192, 426 P.2d 792, 793 (1967).  

(Answering Br. at 9-11.)  Appellants do not necessarily disagree as long as the 

restrictive covenant is reasonable, which is certainly not the case here.   

In Accelerated Care, the restrictive covenant prevented the defendants from 

soliciting the plaintiff’s employees, competing with the plaintiff, or inducing 
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customers to curtail their business with the plaintiff for one year from the date of 

termination.  Accelerated Care, 2011 WL 3678798, at *3.  The Court upheld the 

restriction as reasonable because the defendants had access to strategy, business 

models, and confidential information during their employment.  Id.  Further, the 

court held that the restriction was reasonable to protect the plaintiff’s legitimate 

business interests due to the nature of the confidential business information obtained 

by the defendants during their employment and their identical roles with their new 

employer.  Id. (emphasis added). 

In Hansen, the parties entered into a non-compete agreement restricting the 

defendant from opening an identical medical practice within a 100-mile radius of 

Reno, Nevada.  Hansen, 83 Nev. at 191, 426 P.2d at 793.  The court was primarily 

concerned with the plaintiff losing patients as a result of the defendant opening a 

new office.  Id. at 191-92, P.2d at 793-94.  The court held that the restriction was 

reasonable to protect the goodwill and business of the employer as it was tied to 

geographic limits of the city of Reno, Nevada, and a one-year time period.  Id. 

Here, on the other hand, the restrictions set forth in the NCAs are in no way 

comparable to those at issue in Accelerated Care or Hansen.  The definition of 

“Facilities” makes it impossible for Appellants to determine who they can or cannot 

perform work for.  In addition, the requirement that they relinquish their staff 

privileges is unlimited as to time.  It does not say for how long they must relinquish 
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their privileges.  Moreover, here, there is no concern about the use or disclosure of 

proprietary of confidential business information.  Rather, Appellants provided 

anesthesiology and pain management services for Respondent’s customers, utilizing 

their own skills, education, and expertise. 

Furthermore, the restriction in the instant matter is not tied to the legitimate 

business interests of Respondent.  Plaintiffs in Accelerated Care were concerned 

about the disclosure of proprietary information falling into the hands of competitors 

which could then impact its business across the country.  Id. at *4.  The restriction 

was narrowly tailored to protect the interests of the business.  Here, the laundry list 

of restrictions mentioned above are not narrowly tailored to protect the legitimate 

business interests of Respondent.  The NCAs restrict Appellants from practicing at 

any “Facility” Respondent previously supplied health care providers to, even if it 

did so prior Appellants’ employment and even if Respondent’s contract with the 

“Facility” had expired. Even more unreasonable, the NCAs restrict Appellants from 

practicing at hospitals where there had been “active negotiations” without an 

agreement coming to fruition.   

Next, Respondents rely on Anesthesia Servs., P.A. v. Winters, No. 

CIV.A.10C-06-037RRC, 2010 WL 4056141, at *3 (Del. Super. Ct. Oct. 6, 2010), 

to argue that facility-based restrictions have been “ratified” by courts.  (Answering 

Br. at 12-13.)  But Winters hardly provides the support Respondent seeks.  In 
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Winters, the non-compete prohibited the defendant from working in the field of 

anesthesiology within a “twenty-five (25) mile radius surrounding each facility 

serviced by” the plaintiff anesthesiology group.  Winters, 2010 WL 4056141, at *1.  

The defendant took a job at Lewes Surgery Center, a “facility” the plaintiff formerly 

had a business relationship with.  Id.  Thus, in Winters, one, and only one “facility” 

was at issue, it was a “facility” known to both the plaintiff and the defendant, and 

the court did not expressly pass on the reasonableness of facility-based geographic 

restrictions.  Moreover, because Winters involved a motion to dismiss, the court 

accepted the facts in the complaint as true and drew all reasonable inferences in the 

plaintiff’s favor in holding that the plaintiff stated a claim upon which relief could 

be granted.  The Winters court did not “ratify” anything. 

Respondent claims, however, that it limited “the geographic scope of the 

Non-Competition Clause to the facilities themselves . . . . [and] . . . went one step 

further [sic] by limiting the Non-Competition Clause to facilities where Scott and 

Annie personally worked as opposed to all facilities serviced by Fielden Hanson.”  

(Answering Br. at 12.)  This argument is, at best, a half-truth.  The Non-Competition 

Clause states, in most relevant part, the following: 

[P]hysician covenants and agrees that Physician shall not . . . (i) provide 

Anesthesiology and Pain Management Services at any of the Facilities 

at which Physician has provided any Anesthesiology and Pain 

Management Services . . . (ii) call on, solicit or attempt to solicit any 

Facility serviced by the Practice . . . or (iii) provide management, 

administrative or consulting services at any of the Facilities at which 
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Physician has provided any management, administrative or consulting 

services or any Anesthesiology and Pain Management Services . . . .”  

 

(1 App. 184, emphases added.) 

 

While the language in (i) and (iii) is limited to “the Facilities at which 

Physician has provided . . . Services . . . .”, the language in (ii) is not so limited, and 

reaches “any Facility serviced by the Practice.”  Under the definition of “Facilities,” 

the restricted “Facilities” could be located anywhere.  Due to the expansive 

definition of “Facilities,” the Non-Competition Clause is unreasonable.  It injects 

uncertainty into the parties’ agreement, fails to put Appellants on notice of which 

“Facilities” they must avoid, and reaches much farther than necessary to protect 

Respondent’s legitimate business interests. 

Appellants contend that, a physician-based restriction would have been far 

more reasonable because it is physicians, not facilities, that hire anesthesiologists (2 

App. 205-206, 210-211).  Respondent argues that “a non-competition clause based 

solely on physicians would be exponentially more restrictive than one based on 

facilities.”  (Answering Br. at 13.)  But this is flat wrong.  Restrictions based on 

facilities are overly broad because they prevent anesthesiologists from working for 

every surgeon who performs surgeries at a particular facility even if the surgeon is 

one that the former employer had no prior business relationship with and, therefore, 

no relationship to protect.  A physician-based restriction, on the other hand, would 

have allowed Appellants to know precisely who they could and count not accept 



11 

work from and, therefore, would have been more reasonable. 

Next, Respondent argues that Appellants’ argument concerning the NCAs’ 

requirement that Appellants terminate their staff privileges is irrelevant because of 

a severability clause.  (Answering Br. at 14.)   But this argument is squarely relevant 

because the requirement that Appellants “withdraw from the medical staff of every 

Facility in which Physician holds medical staff privileges” is itself a restrictive 

covenant because Appellants cannot work as anesthesiologists at hospitals where 

they do not hold staff privileges.  This restriction is particularly relevant because it 

highlights the highly offensive nature of the NCAs and their intrusion into 

Appellants’ right to work and earn a living as physicians in the medical profession.  

Under Golden Road, this restrictive covenant, which is not limited as to time is 

unreasonable on its face and renders the NCAs “wholly unenforceable.” 

In sum, and as stated in Appellants’ Opening Brief and above, the restrictive 

covenants set forth in the NCAs are anything but reasonable due to the overly broad 

and overarching definition of “Facilities.”  The restrictions are not specifically tied 

to Appellants’ practice or the surgeons they performed services for while they were 

employed by Respondent, they are not limited to geographic areas serviced by 

Respondent, and apply to any possible relationship Respondent may or may not have 

with a “Facility.”  They are excessively broad and unnecessary to protect 

Respondents’ legitimate business interests. 
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B. The Statute’s “Plain Language” Says Nothing About Retroactivity. 

 

Respondent claims that NRS 613.195(5)’s “plain language” requires that it be 

applied in “any action” seeking enforcement of a non-competition agreement.  

(Answering Br. at 15-17.)  Respondent claims that the statute’s application “turns 

on when an employer brings an action” rather than when the noncompetition 

agreement was formed.  This argument borders on the frivolous, however, because 

the statute is completely silent as to whether it applies retroactively or prospectively.  

To overcome this inconvenience, Respondent relies on Picetti v. State, 124 Nev. 782, 

793–94, 192 P.3d 704, 712 (2008) and Stromberg v. Second Judicial Dist. Court, 

125 Nev. 1, 5–6, 200 P.3d 509, 511 (2009).  But these cases do not provide the 

support Respondent seeks.   

In both cases, a criminal statute, NRS 484.37941, had been amended to allow 

DUI offenders to apply for treatment programs when they entered their guilty pleas.  

The amended statute provided that, “[a]n offender who enters a plea of guilty or nolo 

contendere to a violation of NRS 484.379 or NRS 484.379778 that is punishable 

pursuant to paragraph (c) of subsection 1 of NRS 484.3792 may, at the time he 

enters his plea, apply to the court to undergo a program of treatment.”  Id. (emphasis 

added).  The State argued that the defendants could not apply for treatment because 

they committed their crimes before the statute went into effect.  Stromberg, 125 

Nev. at 5, 200 P.3d at 511.  This Court disagreed and held as follows: 
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This statutory language, as we explained in Picetti, “provides that 

anyone entering a plea of guilty or nolo contendere after the statute's 

effective date is eligible to apply for treatment.” Id.  We reaffirm that 

decision. Because Stromberg attempted to plead guilty after the 

statute’s effective date, we conclude that the district court manifestly 

abused its discretion when it refused to consider his request to plead 

guilty and apply for treatment pursuant to NRS 484.37941. 

 

Stromberg, 125 Nev. at 5-6, 200 P.3d at 511-512 (emphasis added).  Picetti and 

Stromberg are distinguishable, and inapplicable to this case, because, unlike this 

case, NRS 484.37941 specifically states that an offender may apply for treatment “at 

the time he enters his plea.”  In this case, however, unlike the statute at issue in 

Picetti and Stromberg, NRS 613.195(5) contains no language indicating when it 

applies.  It merely says, “[i]f an employer brings an action to enforce a 

noncompetition covenant . . . the court shall revise the covenant to the extent 

necessary and enforce the covenant as revised.”  NRS 613.195(5).  The statute’s 

plain language says nothing about retroactivity. 

C. This Matter Concerns Legislative Intent, Not Statutory 

Interpretation. 

 

Respondent attempts to twist the issue at hand into one of statutory 

interpretation, while the real issue is one of retroactivity.  Respondent claims that 

the statute is clear and allows for retroactive application.  (Answering Br. at 17-19.)  

Appellants struggle to see what part of the statute Respondent is referring to as NRS 

613.195(5) is silent on whether the statute is retroactively applied. Respondent’s 

citation of the prefatory statement of NRS 613.195 as evidence of retroactivity is 
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thin at best.  To be abundantly clear, Appellants are not disputing what NRS 

613.195(5) means.  Rather, Appellants are challenging whether the Legislature 

intended for the statute to retroactively apply to contracts executed prior to its 

enactment. That analysis cannot be completed by a surface-level reading of the 

statute, the Legislature’s intent must be analyzed and is pivotal to such a 

determination. 

Alternatively, Respondent attempts to place words in the Legislature’s 

figurative “mouth” by implying that if the Legislature’s intent was to not apply the 

statute retroactively, it could have expressly stated that the statute does not apply 

retroactively.  (Answering Br. at 17-18.)  This line of reasoning is inherently flawed 

as it would allow the Legislature’s silence on an issue to be construed as its implicit 

approval or consent.  The argument is essentially, “the Legislature didn’t say I can’t 

do it, so that means I can.”  That is nonsense.   

The Court must determine whether the Legislature intended NRS 613.195(5) 

to apply retroactively.  See Nev. Power Co. v. Metropolitan Dev. Co., 104 Nev. 684, 

686, 765 P.2d 1162, 1163 (1988) (reversing and remanding district court’s finding 

of retroactivity because “[t]he legislative history of [the statute] does not support the 

conclusion that [it] was meant to be applied retroactively”); see also Miller v. Burk, 

124 Nev. 579, 589, 188 P.3d 1112, 1119 (2008) (holding enactments must have only 

“prospective application, unless the [enactment] specifically provides otherwise”).  
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If the Court finds there is no retroactive effect, the Statute would apply.  Sandpoint 

Apts. v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct., 129 Nev. Adv. Op. 87, 313 P.3d 849 (2012).  On the 

other hand, if there is a retroactive effect, the Court must determine whether the 

Statute was meant to be applied retroactively.  See id.  

Here, there is absolutely no evidence in the legislative history or revised text 

showing that the Legislature intended for NRS 613.195(5) to be applied 

retroactively.  The Legislature was silent, evidencing its lack of intent to apply the 

statute retroactively.  On other occasions, however, the Legislature has expressly 

stated its intent to have legislation apply retroactively with respect to other laws, and

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